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Mills-Ferris-Pearsall House
112 Ferris Place
Westfield, NJ 07090

Block 2504 / Lot 14
ca. 1750, ca. 1862

The Mills-Ferris-Pearsall House is one of the oldest houses in
Westfield. It is situated on a 20,499 square foot (0.47 acres) lot
set back approximately 30 feet from Ferris Place on the south.
Flanked by other residential properties, the nearest cross street is
Prospect Street to the east. The nearest street to the west is Clark
Street. The original, smaller portion of the house (right side) was
built circa 1750, and is now connected to a prominent early story-
and-a-half section (left side) that was moved to its current
location prior to 1862. The Downingesque Gothic Revival detailing
was added at that time. The Mills-Ferris-Pearsall House is an
excellent example of local antebellum vernacular architecture and
adds to the significance of the still extant Colonial-era / pre-Civil
War heritage remaining in Westfield. The house was built by one
of the early settler families of the state and has been included in
every town survey of important buildings. The home is significant
at the local level for both its architecture and for its inhabitants.

Barton Ross, HPC Consultant
December 2021
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This report has been prepared in accordance with Historic Designation and Preservation Ordinance
of the Town of Westfield Appendix Il (5)(B) Procedures for Designation:

For individual landmark designations, the report shall include one or more photographs, the tax
lot and block number of the property as designated on the Official Tax Map of the Town and a
physical description and statement of significance and proposed utilization of the landmark.

The Mills-Ferris-Pearsall House



I. Executive Summary

The Westfield Historic Preservation Commission was established to accomplish the protection,

enhancement and perpetuation of historic buildings, structures, sites, objects, improvements, and
districts within the Town of Westfield, to implement the historic preservation element of the town's
master plan and to advance the following public purposes:

A.

To safeguard the heritage of the Town of Westfield by preserving resources which reflect elements
of its archaeological, cultural, social, economic, architectural, and historical heritage;

To encourage the continued use of historic landmarks and historic districts and to facilitate their
appropriate use or reuse;

To maintain and develop an appropriate and harmonious setting for the historically significant
structures, sites, and districts located within the Town of Westfield;

To identify, designate, and regulate historic landmarks and historic districts in order to preserve
their historical significance;

To foster civic pride in the history and architecture of the Town of Westfield;

To promote appreciation of historic landmarks and historic districts for the education, pleasure and
welfare of the local population;

To encourage beautification and private reinvestment in historic landmarks and historic districts,
and surrounding properties and landscapes;

To encourage and manage appropriate alterations of historic sites and improvements within
historic districts, and to prevent new construction which is not in keeping with the character of
historic districts;

To discourage the unnecessary total or partial demolition, removal, or destruction of historical
resources; and

To recognize the importance of historic landmarks and historic districts by assisting property

owners and tenants to maintain their properties in keeping with the requirements and standards of
the Historic Designation and Preservation Ordinance.

The proposed historic landmark meets or exceeds certain qualifiers per Historic Designation and

Preservation Ordinance of the Town of Westfield Appendix Il (5)(A) Criteria for Designation.




The criteria for evaluating and designating historic landmarks and historic districts shall be
guided by the National Register Criteria as currently published and amended from time to time. The
commission or any person may recommend designation of historic landmarks or historic districts
that are in accordance with the National Register Criteria or that possess one or more of the
following attributes:

A. Character, interest, or value as part of the development, heritage, or cultural Identification
characteristics of the Town, State, or Nation;

B. with a person or persons who significantly enriched the Town, State, or Nation;

C. Landmark of a historic event which had significant effect on the development of the Town,
State, or Nation;

D. Embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction,
architecture, or engineering;

E. ldentification with the work of a builder, designer, artist, architect, or landscape architect
whose work has influenced the development of the Town, State, or Nation;

F. Embodiment of elements of design, detail, materials or craftsmanship that render a landmark
architecturally significant or structurally innovative;

G. Unique location of singular physical characteristics that make a district or landmark an
established or familiar visual feature; and

H. Likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.



Il. History of the Site and Physical Description

Overview

The property overlooks Ferris Place — a residential street with other historic structures. The
property sits on the eastern edge of a residential neighborhood and further east, the area transitions
to mixed-use and non-residential uses (see Figure 1, Figure 2, and Figure 3).

There is Belgian block curbing, a grassed planting strip, and flagstone sidewalk slabs in the
public right-of-way. There is one (1) street tree in the planting strip, and no overhead wires are
present. There is a concrete driveway apron and sidewalk on the left (west) side of the house but no
paved or gravel driveway (see Figure 4). The property is fairly flat with ample grass and plantings in the
front and rear yards.
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Figure 1. Location Map. Source: Google Maps, 2021.



CONDOMINIUM TABLE
W

TAX MAP
TOWN OF WESTFIELD
UNION COUNTY
SCALE: 1" = 100" SEPTEMBER 10, 2012
PAULO D. HORTA, PLS
TOWN SURVEYOR

PUBLIC-WORKS CENTER, 939 NORTH AVE., WEST
WESTTELD, NEW JERSEY, 07080

spisEY
2EREeapenee|

Figure 2. Block 2504, Lot 14: 112 Ferris Place. Source: Westfield Tax Map Sheet 25.
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Figure 3. Block 2504, Lot 14: 112 Ferris Place. Source: Westfield Tax Map Sheet 25.




Figures 4 & 5. Street Views, October 2020.



11l. Architectural Description

Summary Paragraph

The Mills-Ferris-Pearsall House consists of four sections: (1. Westerly) a 2-story, 3-bay gabled,
central block; (2. Easterly) a 1.5-story, 3-bay, gabled wing; (3. Northerly A) a 1-story, shed-roofed
extension; and (4. Northerly B) a 1-story, cross-gabled extension. The overarching architectural style is
vernacular Downingesque Gothic Revival. The mostly timber frame, clapboard house has
approximately 2,021-square feet of floor area. The central block and wing were constructed circa
1750. Notably, the larger central block was moved from Broad Street prior to 1862 to augment the
small pre-existing house standing at this location. The joining of the two caused the pre-existing
section to visually become a wing. Evidence suggests that at the time of the joining of these primary
sections, the Downingesque Gothic Revival details were added. The two northerly extensions were
added in the late 19t and 20™ centuries, other minor alterations were made. The property includes
one outbuilding which possesses integrity from the mid-twentieth century and is therefore a
contributing building.

Exterior Description
1. Westerly, 2-story, 3-bay, gabled central block. The foundation is brick above grade and has

been parged. The south (front) elevation features a portico first-floor entrance supported
by square columns, one-over-one windows on the first floor, and paired-arched windows on
the upper floor (with period shutters). The siding is narrow wood clapboard throughout.
The roof is steeply pitched, with a cross gable on the front. The east gable has a fully extant
multipaned arched window above (with period shutters), and a single double-hung window
below. The west gable has an exterior chimney stack, five windows, and matching return
details for the boxed gutters. On the rear there is roofed porch, and a shed roof dormer.

2. Easterly, 1.5-story, 3-bay, gabled wing. The foundation is rough ashlar coursed stone. The
south (front) elevation features a portico first-floor entrance, flanking one-over-one
windows on the first floor, and an arched window on the upper floor. The siding on the
south is early wide clapboard, with narrow wood clapboard above on the added gable. The
East gable has two windows above, and narrow wood clapboard that marries into the siding
of Northerly section A.

3. Northerly section A, 1-story shed-roofed extension. The visible foundation is rough random
coursed stone. The roof is a low-pitched shed. A three-sectioned mullion window assembly
is on the east, and a door and window are on the west. The siding is narrow wood
clapboard.

4. Northerly section B, 1-story cross-gabled extension. The foundation is concrete masonry
units. On the east there are four paired sliding windows, and a half-round window on the

! Date used from Mr. Detwiller’s 1974 letter. More study is required. There was no historic map or other documentary
evidence found to corroborate this date of construction, however the physical evidence does not disprove this. A
dendrochronology study should be undertaken as part of a Historic Structure Report in order to definitively date the house.
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cross gable. On the north there are three paired sliding windows, and a half-round window
on the cross gable. On the west there are three paired sliding windows, a door with a
roofed porch, and a half-round window on the cross gable.

Architectural Details

“Evidence of its early Colonial construction evident in the beams in the basement of the larger
portion of the structure through the rafter pinning using wooden dowels as well as the hand wrought
rose head-ed nails in the attic floor indicate a possible date as early as 1730-1750. The smaller structure
on the right may be even earlier. Butter-milk paint and a series of fireplace crane mounts previous to
the current fireplace crane indicates an earlier age. The mantel piece is a fine example of 1730-50’s
work with hand planing both in the mantle and in the old doors flanking the fireplace.” Charles H.
Detwiller, Jr. Architect Plainfield May 31, 1974

Interior Description

The interior was assessed by the HPC and consultant on July 8, 2021, and they concurred with
the 1974 assessment by architect Charles Detwiller, noting: that the beams in the basement and rafter
pinning as well as hand wrought rose headed nails in the attic floor - indicating an early building (with a
date of possibly as early as 1750 +/-). The floor beams in both the east and west sections are hand-
hewn timbers, with logs interspersed (see Figure 6). The rafters in both sections are also hand-hewn
timbers, which are joined with pegs, and have unique maker marks. The visible front cross gable
framing is vertical mill-sawn and indicates pre-Civil War alterations at the time of the moving of the
westerly section. The mantel piece in the westerly section parlor, and the trim are all consistent with
the pre-Civil War Gothic Revival alterations. In the east section, the brick fireplace, crane pintails, and
pattern of the 2 windows, and door are typical of a very early farmhouse style. The mantel in the east
section is a handsome Federal example — and represents the single fine flourish in what was otherwise
a primitive house.



Figure 6. Basement beams, Barton Ross Architects, LLC.

July, 2021
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Mills/ Ferris/Pearsall Home ca.1730-1750

Architectrual Detail:
“Lvidence of its early Colonial construction evident in the beams in
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pinning using wooden dowels as well as the hand wrought rose head-

Shown during Pearsall Family

rent fireplace crane indicates un earlier age. The manile piece is  fine]

History of Town & Home:

+ Town of Westficld or the “West Ficlds of Elizabethtown” date back to 1720 and served as
the agricultural breadbasket for Elizabethtown, established in 1664 by King Charles I1.
Westlield protected its history, until the last several years, when builders began targetin
many of the remaining pre-revolutionary homes for new development.

Built circa 1730-1740, this carly colonial home, built by Joseph & Elias Mills stands as an ar
chitectural remembrance to Westlield’s Colonial past.

+ As part of the 45 acres originally cstablished by Joseph Mills extending from Broad Street

to Dudley Avenue, the remaining farm was later purchased by James R. Ferris (1858). Fer

Gothic structurc for his family in 1857. His daughter May Ferris Pearsall and her descend-

ris took two homes ca. 1730 and ca. 1750 and joined them together to crcate this farmhouse

ants continually lived in the home until Helen Pearsall, May's daughter, dicd at 94 years old.

Pcarsall Famil)'

Westfield is in the heart of New Jersey
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Figure 7. Poster advocating for the preservation of the subject property.
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IV. Ownership and Development History

The joined historic sections of the house are the result of the marrying of two very early
dwellings prior to the Civil War. The west section is the moved section, and the east section has always
been at this location.

The first indication for the existence of the east section is the 1850 wall map J. C. Sidney. 'Map
of Essex County, New Jersey, with the Names of Property Owners &c. from Actual Surveys' (Newark:
Hiram A. Belding, 1850). This cadastral map (showing land ownership), like many others, was created
by a publisher with the intent of selling numerous copies. The map publishers of the day would
advertise that those who purchased advanced copies would have their names and houses shown.
Research has proven that with some of these maps more houses were left off - than included. This is
very likely the case here. The east section is extremely small and without great flourish — indicating a
low social standing — and thus the owner was very unlikely willing to pay to show off the modest home.
The map does oddly show a lane (an unofficial street) with no logical purpose other thanto goto a
farmstead. The lane was very likely there to access what is today part of 112 Ferris Place. Today, this
lane is Prospect Street. This house, like many other early dwellings, faced south for solar light - and

unlike our modern homes - did not always face a street or lane.
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Figure 7. The 1850 map showing Prospect St. as a farm lane, and the location of 112 Ferris PI.

12



In 1862, another cadastral map was published. This map was titled 1862: County Wall Map.
Ernest L. Meyer and P. Wetzel. 'Topographical Map of Union County, New Jersey' (New York: Ferd.
Mayer & Co., 1862). This map for the first time shows the house at 112 Ferris Place. Here it is labeled
“J. S. Ferris.” In addition, we find “J. R. Ferris” on Broad Street (they were brothers). Note, that the
home of J. S. Ferris is fronting today’s Ferris Place, and the house is a long rectangle (and not a small
square) — thus indicating the joining of the east and west sections had occurred.

Figure 8. 1862 map showing 112 Ferris place.

“J. S. Ferris” was Josiah Seymour Ferris, Jr., and he was born 1828, the youngest of six children
of Josiah Seymour Ferris, Sr., and Elisabeth Royce. The family was originally from New York City, and
mostly relocated to Westfield before September 1857 (at that time James R., a merchant, sells some
property in Westfield).

James’s younger brother Josiah (the owner of 112 Ferris Place in 1862), remained in New York
City where he was a merchant. On Wednesday, May 10, 1854, the New York Evening Post published
the wedding announcement of “J. S. Ferris, Jr. to Mary E. eldest daughter of Joseph Kellogg, all of this
city.” The couple then began their family. Josiah, and family, remained in New York City until 1862
where in that year he is no longer listed in the New York City Directory, but he is shown as the owner
of the house on the street that would bear his name in Westfield. On June 30, 1863, Josiah and his
brother James, both of Westfield, and both merchants — were shown on the Civil War Draft listing. It is
likely that the brothers were in business together.
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What we know is that Josiah Seymour Ferris, Jr. operated a store in New York City, got married,
started a family, and then moved to Westfield where in 1862 he is the owner of the house at 112 Ferris
Place, and he works as a merchant. What we must surmise is that either the turmoil of the Civil War in
New York City, or the general thought that the city is not a great place to raise a family causes him to
move to Westfield. Perhaps it was an invitation to join his brother in business and be closer to his
parents (who also were in Westfield). Nevertheless, we find Josiah, by 1862, is now in this then up and
coming suburban town.

Consider the fact that Josiah is a merchant, his brother (and store) is on Broad Street — he
would naturally want to own a house near his work. He purchases the very small house off Prospect
Street, but it is not big enough (nor does it meet his standing in the community as a merchant). So, he
acquires a dwelling that according to records stood on the north side of Broad Street and east of
Prospect, built before the Revolution, and may have been built by Joseph Mills around 1750 or earlier.
That dwelling is moved to the property he owns and joined to the existing structure — thus more than
doubling the size of the original home.

This increase in size is not good enough
for his social status, so in conjunction with
simply joining the two houses — Josiah improves
upon them by making the joined houses look as
one in the then very popular Gothic Revival
style. The house then remained in the Ferris
family, transferring to a daughter who married
into the Pearsall family where it stayed until the
mid-1990’s.

Photo by Danyt Stone
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The earliest known clear image of the house is unfortunately, undated, and shows only a partial
view of the west gable (see figure 10 below). The view is from the north looking south toward Ferris
Place, and the house across the street (#115) is clearly in view — the subject house is at the left. This
image, although however limited, is of great value, as it gives evidence of the early age of the west
section and offers an architectural clue to a full-length veranda on the south fagade.

In the image, in the upper left-hand corner (noted with an arrow), a nine-over-six pane window
is evident. The nine-over-six pane window style was largely abandoned as unfashionable shortly after
the Revolution, and in this case the early window was likely retained as it was not on the primary
facade (and probably was simply still functional). The windows on the primary street facade were likely
upgraded to be consistent with the then stylish Gothic Revival look that was created with the
unification of the east and west sections.

In the upper center of the photo (noted with an arrow), one can see the west edge of the roof
of a full-length veranda on the south facade of the west section. The existence of the veranda is
confirmed on the 1901 Sanborn map (figure 12). Such a veranda is in keeping with the stylistic theme
drawn from an extremely popular pattern book of the early-19t" century (see figure 11).

o

Figure 10. Undated photo showing part of112 Ferris Pace, and members of the ears

~v

all family.
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Before the days of a plethora of trained architects, homeowners who wanted to make their
homes stylish —would simply hire a local builder. Those builders would have access to pattern books
that were widely printed, and from which design themes were drawn. These builders would usually
draw their own designs. And in doing so incorporate elements of the published style in a vernacular
way that both meet the owner’s budget — and the builder’s range of talent (and limits).

One extremely popular pattern book was by Andrew Jackson Downing, the father of America’s
Gothic Revival style. His 1842 book Cottage residences, or, A series of designs for rural cottages and
cottage villas, and their gardens and grounds: adapted to North America was widely distributed.
Countless adaptations of the designs in the book were built during the time of the style’s popularity
(1840-1880). In the instance of 112 Ferris Place, we can see that the local builder was creating a
variation of “Design II” (figure 9, page 50a in Downing’s “Cottage” book). The 112 Ferris Place house
when it was upgraded into the Gothic Revival style, circa 1862, incorporated the prominent cross
gable, the paired windows in the gable, and the veranda of the Downing design — albeit in a local
vernacular capacity.

DESIGN I,

A COTTAGE IN THE ENGLISH, OR RURAL GOTEIC STYLE

Fia 9

Figure 11. “Design II” from Andrew Jackson Downing’s 1842 “Cottage” book.
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Prior to 1901, the house was enlarged with a third section, an extension to the north with a

shed roof. This allowed more floor space in what was in essence - a two-room house on the main living

floor. In addition, a rear porch was added across the rear of the west section. The no longer extant

veranda across the front of the west section of the house is confirmed on this map.
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Figure 13. 1937 rear view of 112 Ferris Place. Photo by Lauren L. McMaster.
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Between 1901 and 1916, a small addition was constructed to the north side of the north
extension (it is no longer extant).
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Figure 14. 1916 Sanborn Map.

Between 1916 and 1921 the porch across the front of the west section house was replaced with

a portico, and a portico was added to the east section (both extant today). And the north extension
was unified.
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Figure 12. 1921 Sanborn Map.
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V. Historic Maps and Photographs

"The Olde Towne 1740-1800" Map prepared by Pearson Greaves, 1937 with the Elias Mills house
noted. It is this early structure that evidence notes as the relocated west section of the house at 112
Ferris Place.
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Historic Preservation Map, July 1, 2008, latest revision: September 10, 2020.
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Pearsall Family residence. Artist rendering by O'Neill, 1990.
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Circa 2011 three-quarter view from the southeast. Source: Realtor.com
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VI. Documents and Newspaper Articles

Wedding Announcement. Union County Standard, November 15, 1918




The Olde Towne 1700-1894, A Brochure of Westfield, New Jersey. 1937




The Olde Towne 1700-1894, A Brochure of Westfield, New Jersey. 1937 (continued)




"Old Folks and Old Houses, September 7, 1950




Letter from Architect Charles H. Detwiller, Jr., May 31, 1974




Westfield Historical Society Press Release. November 13, 1990




Westfield Historical Society Press Release. November 13, 1990 (continued)




The Westfield Record, Vol. 1, No. 11. Wednesday, November 21, 1990 (continued)
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Aero-view of Westfield, N.J. 1929, showing an artist rendering of 112 Ferris Place (note the artist made
the house a full two stories).
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